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TO:  THE HONORABLE GEORGE B. DANIELS 
UNITED STATES  DISTRICT COURT 

 
 

Robb Evans & Associates LLC ("Receiver" 1 ) for the Westridge Entities2  and the assets of 

Stephen Walsh ("Walsh"), Paul Greenwood ("Greenwood"), and Janet Walsh ("J. Walsh"), and 

the counsel employed by the Receiver:  Frandzel Robins Bloom & Csato, L.C. ("Frandzel")  and 

Barnes & Thornburg LLP ("Barnes")  hereby submit their Twentieth Joint Application for 

Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement of Expenses Incurred During the Period of July 

1, 2018 through December 31, 2018 ("Twentieth Application").   For the period July 1, 2018 

through December 31, 2018 ("Twentieth  Application Period"), the Receiver requests interim 

approval of fees in the amount of$8,027.70 and reimbursement  of expenses in the amount of 

$17,535.07,  Frandzel requests interim approval of fees in the amount of$48,283.00  and 

reimbursement of expenses  in the amount of $9,368.81,  and Barnes requests interim approval of 

fees in the amount of $198.003; 

This Twentieth Application contains the following sections: 
 

Section I provides a brief summary of the background of the receivership. 
 

Section II summarizes  the procedures used by the Receiver and Frandzel in compiling 

their respective billing and also explains declarations that are submitted in support of this 

Twentieth Application and the exhibits attached to them. 

 
 
 
 

1  Reference to the Receiver in this Twentieth Application means the Receiver, the 
Receiver's deputies, and its staff. 

 
2 For purposes of this Twentieth Application, the "Westridge Entities" refers to Westridge 

Capital Management ("Westridge"), WG Trading Company LP ("WGTC"),  WG Trading 
Investors, LP ("WGTI"), and business entities owned by or affiliated with them including 
Westridge Capital Management  Enhancement Funds, Inc., K & L Investments, LLC, WGI LLC, 
WGTC Limited. 

3 Although the Receiver has been appointed over the Westridge Entities in both case Nos. 
09-CV-1749 ("CFTC Action") and 09-CV-1750 ("SEC Action"), the amount of fees sought by 
the Receiver, Frandzel and Barnes in this Twentieth Application represents the total amount of 
fees for services rendered in both cases during the Twentieth Application Period. 



 

 

Section III describes the services provided by the Receiver and Frandzel during the 

Twentieth Application Period in each ofthe activity categories set forth in Section D of the SEC 

Guidelines.4 

I.  CASE BACKGROUND  AND STATUS 
 

A.  SEC Action Background 
 

1.  On February 25, 2009, the SEC filed a complaint against certain of the Westridge 

Entities, Greenwood and Walsh as well as J. Walsh and Robin Greenwood as relief defendants. 

While the allegations of the SEC Action are of record in this proceeding and will not be recounted 

here, by way of summary, in its complaint, the SEC alleges that Greenwood and Walsh, using 

these certain Westridge Entities, orchestrated a complex fraudulent investment scheme whereby 

rather than investing the monies in the manner they represented to investors they misappropriated  

the funds to "furnish lavish and luxurious lifestyles".  The SEC alleges that Walsh's  and 

Greenwood's actions violated Section 17 (a) of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 

1O(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Sections 206 (1), (2), and (4) of the 
 
Investment Advisers Act of 1940. 

 
2.  Because the fraud was ongoing, in order to preserve the status quo and protect the 

Court's  ability to approve a fair distribution for victims of the fraud, the SEC sought an order 

which, among other things, froze ce1iain of the defendants' assets, prevented the defendants from 

destroying, altering or concealing documents, and appointed a receiver to take control of the 

Westridge Entities named in the complaint. 

3.  On February 25, 2009, the District Court entered its Order appointing Robb Evans 
 
& Associates,  LLC as the temporary receiver ("SEC Initial Receivership Order").  (See, 

Document No. 2.)  Specifically,  the Court ordered the Receiver to: 

 
 
 
 

4 For purposes of this Twentieth Application, the term "SEC Guidelines" refers to the 
Billing Instructions for Receivers in Civil Actions Commenced  by the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 
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(1) preserve the status quo; (2)ascertain  the extent of commingling of funds among 
WGTI, WGTC and Westridge; (3) ascertain the true financial condition of WGTI, 
WGTC and Westridge and the disposition  of investor funds; (4) prevent further 
dissipation ofthe property and assets ofWCiTI, WGTC and Westridge; (5) prevent 
the encumbrance  or disposal of property or assets ofWGTI, WGTC and Westridge 
and the investors; (6) preserve the books, records and documents of WGTI, WGTC 
and Westridge; (7) be available to respond to investor inquiries; 
(8) protect the assets ofWGTI, WGTC and Westridge from further dissipation; 
and (9) determine ifWGTI, WFTC and Westridge should undertake a bankruptcy 
filing. 

 
 

4.  To accomplish the foregoing, the SEC Initial Receivership Order provided the 
 
Receiver with various powers including, but not limited to, the power to: 

 
(a)  Take and retain immediate possession of all of the assets and property of 

WGTI, WGTC and Westridge and all entities they control or have an ownership interest in ...; 

(b)  Have exclusive control of, and be made the sole authorized signatory for, 

all accounts at any bank, brokerage firm or financial institution that has possession or control of 

any assets or funds ofWGTI, WGTC and Westridge and all entities they control or have an 

ownership interest; 

(c)  Pay from available funds necessary business expenses required to preserve 

the assets and property of the WGTI, WGTC and Westridge and all entities they control or have 

an ownership  interest ... ; and 

(d)  Engage and employ persons, including accountants, attorneys and experts, 
 
to assist in the carrying out of the receiver's duties and responsibilities hereunder. 

 
 

5.  On May 22, 2009, the Court entered an order for a preliminary injunction 

(Document No. 1 00) in which it ordered, among other things, that the Receiver should continue 

to serve in this proceeding with all of the duties and powers set forth in the SEC Initial 

Receivership Order. 



 

 
B. CFTC Action Background 

 
6.  On February 25, 2009, the CFTC filed a complaint against Walsh, Greenwood and 

certain ofthe Westridge Entities.5    In the interest ofjudicial economy, the allegations ofthe 

CFTC will not be repeated in detail here.  By way of summary, similar to the allegations in the 

SEC Action, the CFTC also alleged that Walsh and Greenwood, using the named Westridge 

Entities, devised and carried out a complex scheme in which they "misappropriated at least $553 

million from commodity pool participants."  The CFTC further alleges that Walsh and 

Greenwood were able to conceal their fraud and trading losses for over a decade by providing 

false representations and account statements to investors.  The CFTC alleges that Walsh's  and 

Greenwood's actions violate Sections 4b(a) (2) and 4(1) (A) & (B) of the Commodity Exchange 

Act, 7 U.S.C. Sections 6b(a)(2) and 6(1) (A) & (B), and Section 4b(a) (1) of the Commodity 

Exchange Act as amended by the Food, Conservation,  and Energy Act of2008. 

7.  Because the Defendants were still operating the commodity pool there was a 

substantial threat that the fraud would continue.  Therefore, in order to immediately  stop the 

fraudulent conduct and preserve the Court's ability to grant effective relief to the investors, the 

CFTC sought an order which, among other things, froze the assets owned, managed, held by or 

were controlled by the Defendants, prohibited the Defendants from destroying or denying agents 

of the CFTC access to inspect and copy records, and appointed a receiver to take control over the 

assets of the Defendants. 

8.  Consequently, on February 25, 2009, the District Court entered its Order 

appointing Robb Evans & Associates, LLC as the temporary receiver ("CFTC Initial 

Receivership Order") (Document No.2). Some of the duties and powers the conferred on the 

Receiver in the CFTC Initial Receivership Order include: 

 
 
 
 

5 In the CFTC Action, Westwood Capital Management  Enhancement Funds Inc., WG 
Trading Company LP, WGI LLC, K &L Investments  and J. Walsh were also named as relief 
defendants. 
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a.  Assume full control of the corporate Defendants and Relief Defendants 

and any business entities owned by any Defendant or Relief Defendant; 

b.  Take exclusive custody, control, and possession of all the funds, property, 

mail and other assets ofin the possession of, or under the control of the Defendants or Relief 

Defendants, wherever situated; 

c.  Preserve, hold and manage all receivership assets, and perform all acts 

necessary to preserve the value of those assets, in order to prevent any loss, damage or injury to 

Defendants' or Relief Defendants'  customers or clients; 

d.  Prevent the withdrawal  or misapplication  of funds entrusted to the 

Defendants, or Relief Defendants, and otherwise protect the interests of customers, clients, pool 

participants or investors; 

e.  Manage and administer  the assets of the Defendants and Relief Defendants 

by performing all acts incidental thereto that the Receiver deems appropriate  ... ; and 

f.         Choose, engage and employ attorneys, accountants,  appraisers, and other 

independent contractors and technical specialists, as the Receiver deems advisable or necessary 

in the performance of duties and responsibilities under the authority granted by this Order. 

9.  On May 22, 2009, the Court entered an order for a preliminary injunction 

(Document No. 108) in which it ordered, among other things, that the Receiver should continue 

to serve in this proceeding with all of the duties and powers set forth in the CFTC Initial 

Receivership Order. 

C.  The Receiver's Initial Actions 
 

10.  The Receiver's duties set forth in both the SEC Initial Receivership Order and the 

CFTC Initial Receivership Order are colossal.  Not only were the investors defrauded out of a 

staggering amount of money, but because of the nature of the investments implemented  by 

Walsh and Greenwood, the Receiver was required to act swiftly to identify the current 

investments  and unwind them in a manner that would not result in further damage to the 

investors and would preserve the estate assets. 
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11.  After seeking input from the SEC, the CFTC, and investment bankers, among 

others, the Receiver wasted no time in managing an orderly liquidation of the hedged portfolio, 

identifying, evaluating and securing the assets of the Westridge Entities, Walsh, and Greenwood, 

determining the positions carried on the books and records of the Westridge Entities for the 

investors and performed extensive and detailed forensic accounting on the Westridge Entities. 

After completing its initial work on this matter, the Receiver, on May 27, 2009, filed a report of 

activities from February 25, 2009 through May 22, 2009, in which it detailed for the Court and 

all interested parties the exact steps it had taken to fulfill the Court's  directives to it and in both 

cases and the results it had achieved in the first ninety (90) days of the Receivership.6 

12.  In March 2011, the Court approved the Receiver's Distribution  Plan.  Thereafter, 

several investors filed an appeal, including an emergency motion before the Second Circuit 

Court of Appeals to stay the disbursement of funds to investors, which was summarily rejected 

by the Second Circuit.  After the stay motion was denied by the Second Circuit, the Receiver 

disbursed $814,320,547.33 to investors.  The Receiver also prepared for and attended oral 

argument before the Second Circuit Court of Appeals to defend this Court's first distribution 

order, which was ultimately affirmed by the Second District. 

13.  In order to maximize the recovery to investors, the Receiver commenced litigation 

against certain third-party "winning" investors pending before this Court and in the New York 

state court.  In addition, the Receiver has engaged in substantive settlement discussions with 

several of the "winning" investors, which has resulted in numerous settlements in favor ofthe 

estate.  The Receiver continues with its prosecution and settlement efforts to resolve claims 

against the "winning" investors. 

14.  The Receiver is also continuing to monitor the litigation involving a land deal 

known as the "Sweetwater Project."  This is a matter in which Walsh contributed approximately 

$3,000,000.00  in equity to Sweetwater Pointe, LLC, in order to purchase approximately  85 acres 
 
 

6 The Receiver's report is document number 102 in the SEC Action and document 
number 110 of the CFTC Action. 

 
3513406.1  1     078410-0043  7 



 

 

of land in Delaware for improvement.   The ownership  entity also obtained a $6,000,000.00  loan 

from Lehman Brothers.  The project is currently the subject of litigation involving the Delaware 

Department of Transportation, as there is a dispute as to whether the borrowing entity actually 

owns a portion of the land. 

15.  In December 2012, the Court approved the Receiver's second distribution 

proposal, pursuant to which the Receiver requested authority to distribute to investors the sum of 

$40 million.  The Court's Order approving the second distribution proposal provided that the 

Receiver could distribute the funds on January 31, 2013.  As was the case with the Court's 

approval of the Receiver's initial distribution  plan, several of the limited partners filed an appeal 

of the Court's  Order to the United States Second Circuit Court of Appeal, and in this regard, the 

Second Circuit issued a stay thereby preventing the Receiver from making the second 

distribution. In April 2013, the Second Circuit issued its Order approving in total the Receiver's 

initial proposed distribution  plan, thereby rendering the appeal of the second distribution proposal 

moot.  As a result, in April 2013, the Receiver distributed $40 million to investors. 

16.  The Receiver has completed the sale of the Grand Central Pony farm, which 

resulted in a net recovery to estate in the sum of$14,354,520.23. 

17.       The Receiver has pursued "winning" investors in the "clawback" litigation and 

has engaged in settlement discussions with various "winning" investors.  As of June 30, 2014, 

the Receiver has recovered approximately  $87,000,000.00 in clawback settlements. 

18.  The Receiver finalized stipulations  with the U.S. Attorney's Office regarding the 

subordination  of IRS claims to those held by various investors, as well as a similar stipulation 

with the State ofNew York concerning any potential claims that it may assert.  Thereafter, the 

Receiver obtained approval of the stipulations as well as approval to make a third interim 

distribution  in the sum of$75,712,831. 

19.  Many of the investors have pursued their own independent claims against 

insurers.  As a result, the Receiver has been forced to respond to various third-party discovery 

requests, including document requests. 
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D.  Current Case Status 
 

20.  The Receiver continues with its efforts to liquidate various interests which it holds 

in the Liberty Hill project and the Orion Constellation Fund, has commenced the process of 

considering issues pertaining to the closing of the estate, and continues to engage in ongoing 

communications  with the CFTC, SEC, and other investors concerning the Receivership Estate. 

21.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "A" is the financial summary entitled Receiver 

Administrative Expenses and Fund Balance by Month, summarizing the receipts and expenses of 

the receivership estate incurred from the inception of the Receivership on February 25, 2009, to 

June 30,2018. As ofDecember 31,2018, the total funds collected by the Receiver from the 

inception of the Receivership were $1,027,511 ,250.86, and the Receiver had disbursed to 

investors the sum of $978,343,168.17. 

II.  FEES AND EXPENSES REQUESTED 
 

22.  In connection with the Twentieth Application Period, the following compensation 
 

is requested:  
 
• Receiver:  $8,027.70 in fees and reimbursement of$17,535.07 in out-of- 
 

pocket expenses; 
 

 
• Frandzel:  $48,283.00  in fees and reimbursement  of $9,368.81  in out-of- 
 

pocket expenses; and 
 

 
• Barnes & Thornburg LLP:  $198.00 in fees. 

 
 

23.  These amounts generally reflect and are determined primarily on the basis of the 

hours worked by the Receiver and the attorneys and staff of Frandzel and Barnes.  These 

amounts reflect the hourly rates in effect at the time services were rendered. 

24.  The following declarations  are submitted in support of the fees and expenses 

requested in this Twentieth Application: 
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A.  Declaration of Brick Kane on behalf of the Receiver.  Attached as exhibits 

to Mr. Kane's  Declaration are the Receiver's Fee Schedules showing the 

total fees billed and hours worked during the Twentieth Application 

Period by the Receiver's personnel along with their individual billing 

rates.  Also, attached as an exhibit to Mr. Kane's  declaration  is a 

spreadsheet compiled by the Receiver's staff which itemizes the fees 

billed as well as the costs the Receiver incurred during the Twentieth 

Application  Period. 

B. Declaration  of Craig A. Welin on behalf of Frandzel.  Attached as exhibits 

to Mr. Welin's Declaration are Frandzel's Fee Schedules showing the total 

fees billed and hours worked during the Twentieth Application Period by 

Frandzel's  attorneys and staff and their individual billing rates. 

25.  The Receiver, Frandzel, and McKem1a filed their First Application for Allowance 

of Compensation  and Reimbursement of Expenses Incurred during the period February 25, 2009 

through May 31, 2009 (the "First Application")  on December 24, 2009.  The First Application 

was approved in its entirety by the Court by Orders entered on approximately  February 23,2010. 

The Receiver, Frandzel,  McKenna, Cole and Anthony filed their Second Application for 

Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement of Expenses Incurred during the period June 1, 

2009 through December 31, 2009 ("Second Application")  on July 2, 2010.  The Second 

Application was approved in its entirety by Court Orders entered on July 8, 2010.  The Receiver, 

Frandzel, McKenna, Cole and Anthony filed their Third Application for Allowance of 

Compensation  and Reimbursement of Expenses Incurred during the period July 1, 201 0 through 

December 31, 2010 ("Third  Application")  on October 15, 2010.  The Third Application was 
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approved in its entirety by Court Orders entered on approximately  October 20, 2010.  The 

Receiver, Frandzel, McKenna, Cole and Anthony filed their Fourth Application for allowance of 

compensation  and reimbursement of expenses incurred during the period July 1, 2010 through 

December 31, 2010 ("Fourth Application")  in May 2011.  The Fourth Application was approved 

in its entirety by Court Orders entered on approximately  May 20, 2011.  The Receiver, Frandzel, 

McKenna, Cole, and Anthony filed their Fifth Application  for Allowance of Compensation and 

Reimbursement  ofExpenses incurred during the period July 1, 2011 through December 31,2011 

in November 2011, which was improved in its entirety by Orders of the Court entered on 

approximately  December 22, 2011.  The Receiver, Frandzel, and McKenna filed their Sixth 

Application  for Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement  of Expenses during the period 

July 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011, in July 2012, which was approved in its entirety by 

Orders of the Court entered on approximately  September 18, 2012.  The Receiver, Frandzel, and 

McKenna filed their Seventh Application for Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement 

of Expenses during the period January 1, 2012 through June 30, 2012 in December 2012, which 

was approved in its entirety by Orders of the Court issued on December 21, 2012.  The Receiver, 

Frandzel, and McKenna filed their Eighth Application for Allowance of Compensation  and 

Reimbursement  of Expenses during the period July 1, 2012 through December 31, 2012 in July, 

2013, which was approved in its entirety by Orders ofthe Court issued on July 8, 2013.  The 

Receiver, Frandzel, and McKenna filed their Ninth Application for Allowance of Compensation 

and Reimbursement  ofExpenses during the period January 1, 2013 through June 13,2013, in 

November 2013, which was approved in its entirety by Orders of the Court issued on 

November 15, 2013.  The Receiver, Frandzel and McKenna filed their Tenth Application for 
 

Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement  of Expenses during the period July 1, 2013 
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through December 31,2013 in July 2014, which was approved in its entirely by Orders of the 

Court issued on August 21,2014. The Receiver, Frandzel, and McKenna filed their Eleventh 

Application for Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement  of Expenses During the Period 

January 1, 2014 through June 30, 2014 in December 2014, which was approved in its entirety by 

Orders of the Court issued on approximately  December 16, 2014.  The Receiver, Frandzel, 

McKenna filed their Twelfth Application for allowance of compensation and reimbursement of 

expenses during the period July 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014, in June 2015, which was 

approved in its entirety by Orders of the Court, issued on approximately June 8, 2015.  The 

Receiver, Frandzel and Dentons filed their Thirteenth Application for Allowance of Compensation 

and Reimbursement  of Expenses During the Period of January 1, 2015 through June 30, 2015 in 

December, 2015, which was approved in its entirety by Orders ofthe Court, issued on 

approximately  January 4, 2016.  The Receiver, Frandzel and Dentons filed their Fourteenth 

Application for Allowance of Compensation and Reimbursement  of Expenses During the Period 

of July 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015, in May 2016, which was approved in its entirely by 

Orders ofthe Court issued on approximately June 1, 2016.  The Receiver, Frandzel and Diamond 

filed their Fifteenth Application for Allowance of Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses 

during the period of January 1, 20 I 6 through June 30, 2016, in December 2016, which was 

approved in its entirety by Orders of the Court issued on approximately January 11, 20 I 7.  The 

Receiver, Frandzel and Diamond submitted their Sixteenth Joint Application for Allowance of 

Compensation and Reimbursement  of Expenses During the Period of July 1, 2016 through 

December 31, 2016, in August 2017, which was approved in its entirety by Orders of the Court 

entered on approximately  August 22, 2017.  The Receiver, Frandzel, Diamond and Harneys 

submitted their Seventeenth Joint Application for Allowance of 
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Compensation  and Reimbursement  ofExpenses during the period of January 1, 2017 through 

June 30, 2017, in March 2018, which was approved in its entirety by Orders of the Court entered 

on approximately  March 28, 2018.  The Receiver and Frandzel submitted their Eighteenth Joint 

Application for Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement  of Expenses during the period 

of July 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017 in September  2018, which was approved in its 

entirety by Orders of the Court issued on approximately  September 24, 2018.  The Receiver and 

Frandzel submitted their Nineteenth Joint Application in June 2019, which was approved by 

Orders ofthe Court entered on approximately  June 17, 2019.  None of the firms have received 

retainers in this matter. 

Ill.  SERVICES  RENDERED  BY THE RECEIVER AND FRANDZEL  DURING 
NINETEENTH APPLICATION  PERIOD 

 
26.  Receiver:  Total fees of$8,027.70 and total costs of$17,535.07 as detailed in 

 
Exhibit "A". 

 
A.  Asset Disposition and Asset Analysis & Recovery.  The Receiver's work 

in this category included the liquidation of the Liberty Hill property, including completing the 

sale; and ongoing discussions/analysis of the Orion Constellation  Funds concerning various 

liquidation scenarios for the funds held by Orion. 

B.  Case Administration.   The Receiver's work in this category included 

ongoing communications with various defrauded investors concerning distribution  issues, and 

preliminary analysis regarding issues to close the estate, including the form of consent orders for 

the various defendants. 

C.  Accounting/Auditing:  The Receiver's work in this category included 

processing accounting  payables and updating accounting  information for the estate; bank 

reconciliations;  and preparation  of information for distribution  to investors. 
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D.  Tax Issues:  The Receiver's work in this category included reviewing 

various tax returns for certain receivership entities and related entities; and providing assistance 

to the tax accountants as they prepared various returns. 

E.  Data Analysis:  The Receiver's work in this category focused primarily on 

preparation of documents to include on the Receiver's public website. 

27.  As stated in Mr. Kane's  declaration,  the Receiver and its staff observed the 

policies of the SEC Guidelines in connection  with its expenses during the Twentieth Application 

Period. 

28.  Frandzel:  Total fees of $48,283.00  and total costs of $9,368.81  as detailed in 
 
Exhibit "A". 

 
A.  Case Administration, Asset Disposition, and Asset Analysis/Recovery: 

Frandzel's work during the Twentieth Application  Period in this category included, among other 

things, ongoing monitoring of the Tribune  proceedings, which involve a $4,000,000  "clawback" 

claim against one of the receivership  entities; assisting the Receiver with the sale of the Liberty 

Hill property; and providing ongoing assistance to the Receiver as necessary throughout the 

course of the proceedings. 

29.  As stated in Mr. Welin's declaration, Frandzel observed the policies of the SEC 

Guidelines in connection  with its expenses during the Twentieth Application Period. 

30.  In addition, as noted in the accompanying  Declaration of Brick Kane, the 
 
Receiver has incurred de minimis legal fees and expenses by Barnes for fees in the sum of 

 
$198.00. 
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IV.  CONCLUSION 
 

WHEREFORE,  PREMISES CONSIDERED,  the Receiver, Frandzel and Barnes 

respectfully requests that the Court: 

(a)  grant interim approval of the Receiver's compensation  in the amount of 
 

$8,027.70; 
 

(b)  grant interim approval of the Receiver's request for reimbursement  of its 

out-of-pocket expenses in the amount of $17,535.07; 

(c)  grant interim approval of Frandzel's  compensation  of fees in the amount 

of $48,283.00; 

(d)  grant interim approval of Frandzel's request for reimbursement  of its out- 

of-pocket expenses in the amount of $9,368.81; 

(e)  grant interim approval of Barnes' compensation  of fees in the amount of 
 

$198.00; 
 

(f)  authorize the Receiver to pay, within 10 days from the entry of an Order 

approving this Twentieth Application, the approved fees and expenses set forth above; and 
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(g)  grant such other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 
 
 
 

Dated:  December 26, 2019 
 

  Is/ Craig A. Welin   
Craig A. Welin, Esq. 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice in the United States District 
Court-Southern  District ofNew York 
FRANDZEL ROBINS BLOOM & CSATO, L.C. 
1000 Wilshire Boulevard, 19th Floor 
Los Angeles, California 90017-2427 
Telephone: (323) 852-1000 
Facsimile: (323) 651-2577 
E-mail: cwelin@frandzel.com 
Co-Counsel for Receiver 
Robb Evans & Associates LLC 

mailto:cwelin@frandzel.com


  



 

TO:  THE HONORABLE GEORGE B. DANIELS 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 
This Memorandum of Points and Authorities ("Memorandum")  is being submitted by 

Robb Evans & Associates LLC ("Receiver" 1) for the Westridge Entities2  and the assets of 

Stephen Walsh ("Walsh"), Paul Greenwood ("Greenwood"), and Janet Walsh ("J. Walsh"), and 

the counsel employed by the Receiver, Frandzel Robins Bloom & Csato, L.C. ("Frandzel") and 

Barnes & Thornburg LLP ("Barnes"),  in support of their Twentieth Joint Application for 

Allowance of Compensation  and Reimbursement  of Expenses Incurred during the Period of July 

1, 2018 through December 31, 2018 ("Twentieth  Application").   In the Twentieth Application, 

for the period for July 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018 ("Twentieth Application Period"), the 

Receiver requests interim approval of fees in the amount of $8,027.70 and reimbursement of 

expenses in the sum of$17,535.07, Frandzel requests interim approval of fees in the amount of 

$48,283.00  and reimbursement  of expenses in the amount of $9,368.81, and Barnes & Thornburg 
 
LLP requests interim approval of fees in the amount of $198.003. 

 
Based on the relevant law, discussed in more detail below, the Receiver, Frandzel and 

Barnes request that the Court approve their fees and reimbursement  of expenses as set forth in 

the Twentieth Application  because all fees and expenses incurred by them were reasonable and 

necessary to the efficient and effective administration  of this Receivership Estate in light of the 

 
1  Reference to the Receiver in this Memorandum means the Receiver, the Receiver's 

deputies, and its staff. 
2 For purposes ofthis Memorandum, the "Westridge Entities" refers to Westridge Capital 

Management ("Westridge"), WG Trading Company LP ("WGTC"),  WG Trading Investors, LP 
("WGTI"), and business entities owned by or affiliated with them including Westridge Capital 
Management Enhancement  Funds, Inc., K & L Investments, LLC, WGI LLC, WGTC Limited. 

3 Although the Receiver has been appointed over the Westridge Entities in both case Nos. 
09-CV-1749 ("CFTC Action") and 09-CV-1750 ("SEC Action"), the amount of fees sought by 
the Receiver, Frandzel and Barnes in this Twentieth Application represents the total amount of 
fees for services rendered in both cases during the Twentieth Application Period. 
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complexity, novelty and immediacy of the issues facing the Receiver and its counsel during the 

Twentieth Application Period.  Therefore, the Receiver, Frandzel and Barnes respectfully request 

that the Court authorize the Receiver to pay within 10 days from entry of an order approving the 

Twentieth Application, the approved fees and expenses which they have requested. 

I. BRIEF OVERVIEW OF THE PROCEDURAL  BACKGROUND  OF THE 
RECEIVERSHIP ESTATE AND SERVICES RENDERED BY THE RECEIVER, 
FRANDZEL  AND BARNES DURING THE TWENTIETH  APPLICATION 
PERIOD 

 
A detailed recitation of the factual and procedural background of this matter is beyond 

the scope of this Application; however, by way of summary the procedural  background and 

status of this receivership are as follows: 

On February 25, 2009, the SEC filed a complaint against certain of the Westridge 

Entities, Greenwood and Walsh as well as J. Walsh and Robin Greenwood as relief defendants 

(the "SEC Action").  Among the allegations in the SEC Action are that Walsh and Greenwood, 

while operating an investment scheme to defraud investors, violated Section 17 (a) of the 

Securities Act of 1933, Section 1 O(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Sections 206 

(1), (2), and (4) ofthe Investment Advisers Act of 1940.  Because the fraud was ongoing, in 

order to preserve the status quo and protect the Court's ability to approve a fair distribution for 

victims of the fraud, the SEC sought an order which, among other things requested the 

appointment of a receiver to take control of the Westridge Entities as well as Walsh, J. Walsh 

and Greenwood.  Thus, on February 25, 2009, the District Court entered its Order appointing 

Robb Evans & Associates LLC as the temporary receiver ("SEC Initial Receivership Order"). 

Among the duties and powers in the SEC Initial Receivership Order include preserving the status 
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quo of the Westridge Entities as well as employing persons, including attorneys, to assist in 

carrying out the Receiver's duties.4 

On February 25, 2009, the CFTC filed a complaint against Walsh, Greenwood and 

certain ofthe Westridge Entities (the "CFTC Action").5   Among other things, the CFTC Action 

alleges that Walsh and Greenwood through the use of a scheme in which they "misappropriated 

at least $553 million from commodity pool participants"  violated Sections 4b(a) (2) and 4(1) (A) 
 

& (B) of the Commodity  Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. Sections 6b(a)(2) and 6(1) (A) & (B), and 

Section 4b(a) (1) of the Commodity Exchange Act as amended by the Food, Conservation, and 

Energy Act of2008. Because Walsh and Greenwood were still operating the commodity pool 

there was a substantial threat that the fraud would continue.  Therefore, in order to immediately 

stop the fraudulent conduct and preserve the Court's ability to grant effective relief to the 

investors, the CFTC sought an order which, among other things, requested the Court appoint a 

receiver to take control over the assets of the Defendants.   Consequently, on February 25, 2009, 

the District Court entered its Order appointing Robb Evans & Associates LLC as the temporary 

receiver ("CFTC Initial Receivership  Order").  Some of the duties and powers the conferred on 

the Receiver in the CFTC Initial Receivership Order include: preserving, holding and managing 

all receivership assets and perform all acts necessary to preserve the value of those assets and to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 On May 22, 2009, the Court entered an order for a preliminary injunction (Document 
No. 100) in which it ordered, among other things, that the Receiver should continue to serve in 
this proceeding with all of the duties and powers set forth in the  SEC Initial Receivership Order. 

 
 

5 In the CFTC Action, Westwood Capital Management Enhancement Funds Inc., WG 
Trading Company LP, WGI LLC, K &L Investments and J. Walsh were also named as relief 
defendants. 
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choose and employ attorneys the Receiver "deems advisable or necessary in the performance of 

duties and responsibilities" under the order.6 

The Receiver, after seeking the input from the SEC, the CFTC, and investment bankers, 
 

among others, wasted no time in formulating and implementing an initial course of action which 

included: 

• Managing an orderly liquidation of the hedged portfolio; 
 

 
• Identifying, evaluating, and securing the assets of the Westridge Entities, 

Walsh, and Greenwood; 

• Determining the positions carried on the books and records of the 
 

Westridge Entities for the investors; 
 

 
• Performing extensive and detailed forensic accounting on the Westridge 

 
Entities; 

 

 
• Communicating  with investors to commence in an effort to understand 

their concerns and keep them abreast of the acts be taken by the Receiver; 

and 

• Studying business records and financial documents, and interviewing staff 

member of the Westridge Entities to develop an understanding ofthe 

business operations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 On May 22, 2009, the Court entered an order for a preliminary injunction (Document 
No. 1 08) in which it ordered, among other things, that the Receiver should continue to serve in 
this proceeding with all of the duties and powers set forth in the CFTC Initial Receivership 
Order. 
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During the Second Application  Period which covered the period from June 1, 2009 

through December 31,2009, the Receiver continued to implement the directives issued by this 

Court in accordance  with the Orders appointing the Receiver, which include the following: 

•  Obtaining the Court's approval of a claims verification procedure and a 

claims administration  procedure, and in this regard, the Receiver is in the 

process of verifying individual investor's claim amounts and resolving any 

differences; 

• The negotiation of a comprehensive  stipulated protective order to enable 

the Receiver to provide documentation  to investors so that they may have 

an opportunity to review the requested documentation prior to making a 

recommendation  as to how the funds held by the Receiver should be 

distributed; 

• Providing the Court with a recommendation  concerning the release of 

funds to by J. Walsh and subsequent negotiation of a line of credit to be 

secured by a mortgage on Walsh's Florida residence; 

• Commencement  of the liquidation of various assets owned by Greenwood; 
 

and 
 

 
• Resolution oflitigation involving Greenwood and Walsh, including the 

negotiation of a tentative settlement involving Delaware Land Associates 

(of which Walsh and Greenwood are the limited partners) which may 

provide for a substantial  benefit to the Receivership Estate. 
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During the Third Application Period, the Receiver continued with its efforts to implement 

the directives issued by this Court in accordance with the Orders appointing the Receiver, which 

include the following: 

• Preparation of a comprehensive  Second Receiver's Report filed with the 

Court in June 2010, which included a detailed reconciliation  of the 

complex financial relationship between the receivership entities managed 

by Greenwood and Walsh; 

• Completion  of a Stipulated Protective Order which was approved by the 

Court, enabling investors to obtain and review thousands of pages of 

documentation which they believe is necessary to prepare and analyze a 

proposed plan of distribution; 

• Organization and preparation for a three-day meeting in Los Angeles with 

virtually all of the investors in this case, in which the parties engaged in 

substantive  discussions concerning alternative distribution procedures 

aimed at reaching a consensual distribution plan; 

• Analysis and consideration of potential claims against cetiain third-party 

"winning" investors in order to maximize recovery to investors, including 

developing  a litigation strategy against certain "winning" investors; and 

• Continuing with the liquidation of Greenwood's and Walsh's various 

assets. 

During the Fourth Application Period, the Receiver's activities including the following: 
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• Continuing with the Receiver's efforts to reach a consensual distribution 

plan, which included participating  in a two-day meeting in New York with 

the vast majority of the investors; 

• Proceeded with the Court-ordered  claims administration  process, including 

reviewing the voluminous  investor distribution plans, reviewing the 

proposed plan filed by the CFTC and SEC, and commencing with the 

analysis and formulation of the Receiver's own distribution plan; 

• Initiation of litigation against various third-party "winning" investors in 

order to maximize recovery to investors; and 

• Continuing with the liquidation of Greenwood's and Walsh's various assets, 

including the completion  of an auction of a portion of Greenwood's 

personal property collectibles. 

During the Fifth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• Reviewed and analyzed various distribution proposals submitted by the 

investors and after consideration  of the various proposals, the Receiver 

prepared its own distribution plan which was submitted to the Court for 

approval.  The Comi approved the Receiver's proposed plan of distribution 

over the objection of various investors, and after defeating an emergency 

motion filed by certain investors with the Second Circuit Court of Appeals 

for a stay of the distribution, the Receiver disbursed $792,967,822.09 to 

the investors, a return to investors of approximately 84.94% of their total 

principal balances. 
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• The Receiver proceeded with the litigation against certain third-party 

"winning" investors, including reviewing and responding to answers, 

motions to dismiss or other pleadings filed in response to the complaints. 

The Receiver has also engaged in settlement discussions with many of the 

investors.  With respect to one "winning" investor, the Receiver was able 

to settle a claim without the need for initiating litigation which, after 

approval by the Court, will return to the Receivership Estate in October 

2011 approximately  $21,000,000.00.  The settlement ofthis particular 

claim was finally reached with the consensus of the CFTC and SEC, as 

well as investors that had previously objected to the terms of an initial 

settlement. 

• Continuing  with the liquidation of Greenwood's  and Walsh's various 

assets.  In this regard, the Receiver completed the sale of the Walsh 

residence and obtained Court approval for the auction of the remaining 

farm equipment at the Grand Central pony farm. 

• Obtained Court approval of the settlement in the Pulte litigation and 

related matters, which may, depending  upon the value of certain real 

property, result in a substantial return to the Receivership Estate. 

During the Sixth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• Following the distribution to investors by the Receivership Estate in the 

sum of$792,967,822.09 in April2011, the Receiver has engaged in the 

process of defending the Court's Distribution Order in response to the 



 

appeals filed by various WGTC limited partners and the Kern County 
 

Employees' Retirement Association. 
 

 
• The Receiver has assisted in the resolution of various claims against 

"winning" investors, including settlement negotiations with Coopers 

Industries, Inc., resulting in a recovery to the estate of approximately 

$11.9 million, a settlement with the Baptist Healthcare Systems, Inc., 

resulting in a settlement in favor of the estate for approximately  $2.1 

million, and a settlement with the University at Buffalo Foundation 

resulting in a settlement in favor of the estate in the sum of $240,000.00. 

The Receiver has also obtained from Continental Assurance Company the 

sum of $21.6 million which was paid in October 2011 in accordance with 

a previously Court-approved  settlement.  The Receiver is continuing to 

assist counsel in the litigation against other "winning" investors. 

•  Continuing with the liquidation of Greenwoods'  various assets.  In this 

regard, the Receiver completed the sale of the remaining Greenwood 

personal property collectibles, completed the auction of the remaining 

farm equipment at the Grand Central Pony Farm, and is continuing with its 

efforts to sell the various Greenwood residences and the Grand Central 

Pony Farm. 

During the Seventh Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
•  The Receiver formulated a second interim distribution plan pursuant to 

which the Receiver proposed to distribute $40,000,000.00  to investors and 
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submitted a motion to the Court for approval of the second interim 

distribution  plan. 

• The Receiver assisted in the resolution of various claims against "winning 

investors", including a settlement with Intermountain  Healthcare  which 

will provide a recovery to the estate of approximately  $5,300,000.00. 

• The Receiver continued its efforts to liquidate the Greenwoods' various 

assets.  In this regard, the Receiver inspected the Greenwoods' residences 

and the Grand Central Pony Farm, met with Robin Greenwood's counsel 

to discuss the sale of the properties, and diligently pursued the sales ofthe 

properties. 

During the Eighth Application  Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• The Receiver obtained Court approval of a second interim distribution 

plan pursuant to which the Receiver proposed to distribute $40 million to 

investors. 

• The Receiver obtained approval of a motion for authority to sell the Grand 

Central Pony Farm and the Greenwoods' remaining residences.  The 

Receiver has engaged in ongoing discussions and negotiations regarding 

the sale of these remaining assets. 

• The Receiver has continued to assist in litigation and resolution of various 

claims against "winning" investors, including the resolution of claims 

asserted by James Carder against the estate, as well as claims the estate 

holds against Carder as a "winning" investor. 
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•  The Receiver has responded to ongoing discovery requests by various 

investors pursuing third party claims against various insurers.  In this 

regard, the Receiver responded to voluminous documents requests and in 

one instance, has had its deposition taken in connection with certain third 

party litigation. 

During the Ninth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• Following the decision by the Second Circuit Court of Appeals affirming 

the Receiver's distribution plan in this case, the Receiver disbursed $40 

million to investors. 

• The Receiver negotiated a settlement with the Sun America entities, a 

"winning" investor in the "clawback litigation", which has resulted in the 

payment to the Receivership Estate of $41 million. 

• The Receiver negotiated and entered into a purchase and sale agreement 

for the sale of the Grand Central Pony farm. 

• The Receiver responded to ongoing discovery requests by various 

investors pursuing third party claims against various insurers, including 

responding to voluminous document requests.  In addition, the Receiver 

has responded to document requests in connection with the ongoing 

disputes between the CFTC and SEC, on the one hand, and Janet 

Schaberg, on the other. 

During the Tenth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• The Receiver completed the sale ofthe Grand Central Pony Farm resulting 

in a net recovery to the estate in the sum of$14,345,520.23. 
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• The Receiver obtained Court approval for a non-investor creditors' claims 

verification procedure. 

• The Receiver obtained from the Sun America entities the sum of $41 

million, which was the result of a prior settlement in the "clawback" 

litigation. 

• The Receiver obtained approval for a third interim distribution in the sum 

of $50 million; however, the distribution has been postponed while the 

Receiver investigates potential IRS tax claims against the defendants and 

relief defendants. 

• The Receiver has continued to respond to ongoing discovery requests by 

various investors pursuing third-party claims against various insurers.  In 

addition, the Receiver has responded to requests from the U.S. Attorney's 

Office for various documents in conjunction with the ongoing criminal 

proceedings. 

During the Eleventh Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• The Receiver negotiated a resolution of a "clawback" claim against the 

Trustees of Tufts College, which resulted in a recovery to the Receivership 

Estate of$2,176,595.00. 

• The Receiver also negotiated a resolution of a "clawback" claim against 

Zephros Limited and Credit Suisse which resulted in a recovery to the 

Receivership Estate of $3,384,000.00. 

• The Receiver continues with its efforts to resolve the potential IRS tax 

claims against individual defendants and various WG Entities, and has 



 

kept the Court and all creditors advised of developments concerning this 
 
 

ISSUe. 
 

 
• The Receiver has continued to respond to ongoing discovery requests by 

various parties pursuing third-party claims, including document 

production requests and preparing the Receiver for his possible deposition 

in these matters. 

During the Twelfth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the following: 
 

 
• The Receiver completed negotiations with, and obtained Comi approval 

for, a settlement with the Nebraska Investment Council of a "clawback" 

claim against the Nebraska Investment Council, which resulted in a 

recovery to the Receivership Estate of $800,000.00. 

• The Receiver continued with its efforts to resolve the potential IRS tax 

claims against individual defendants and various WG Entities, and has 

kept the Court and all creditors advised of developments concerning this 

ISSUe. 
 
 

• The Receiver has continued to respond to ongoing discovery requests by 

various parties pursuing third-party claims, including document 

production requests and preparing for its deposition in one of the third- 

party litigation matters. 

During the Thirteenth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the 

following: 

• The Receiver continued with its efforts to resolve the potential IRS tax 

claims against individual defendants and various WG entities, including 
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the finalization of a stipulation  with the IRS, as well as negotiations with 

the State of New York concerning similar tax claims that it may assert.  In 

addition, the Receiver has kept the Court and all creditors advised of 

developments  concerning this issue. 

• The Receiver has completed the sale of the Greenwoods' residences. 
 

 
• The Receiver has continued to respond to ongoing discovery requests by 

various parties in pursuing third party claims, including document 

production requests, and has assisted creditors in the preparation of 

documentation  necessary for their ongoing third party litigation. 

During the Fourteenth Application Period, the Receiver's activities included the 

following: 

• The Receiver finalized stipulations with the IRS and State ofNew York 

concerning potential tax claims that might be asserted against various 

receivership defendants and individuals, and thereafter had the stipulations 

approved by the Court resulting in the Receiver being able to proceed with 

a third interim distribution to defrauded investors in the sum of 

$75,712,831.7 

 
During the Fifteenth, Sixteenth, Seventeenth, Eighteenth, Nineteenth and Twentieth 

 
Application Periods, the Receiver's activities included the following: 

 

 
• The Receiver continued with its efforts to liquidate the Receiver's interest 

in the Liberty Hill and Sweetwater projects. 

 
 
 

7 The Receiver continued to assist defrauded investors in their ongoing third-party 
litigation against various entities. 
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• The Receiver continued discussions with Orion Constellation regarding 

the various liquidation scenarios for the liquidation of funds held by 

Orion. 

• The Receiver began the process of considering procedures necessary to 

close the estate, including engaging in the form of consent judgments that 

will be required by the SEC and CFTC as part ofthe closing of the 

Receivership Estate. 

At the end of the First Reporting Period (May 31, 2009), the Receiver had collected 
 

$819,108,775.18.  At the end ofthe Second Application  Period (December 31, 2009), the 

Receiver had collected total funds of $874,131,988.09. At the end of the Third Application 

Period (June 2010), the Receiver had collected total funds of$875,649,715.59. At the end of the 

Fourth Application Period (December 31, 2010), the Receiver had collected total funds of 

$880,280,472.84. At the end ofthe Fifth Application Period (June 30, 2011), the Receiver had 

collected total funds of$887,919,883.00.  At the end ofthe Sixth Application Period 

(December 31, 2011 ), the Receiver had collected total funds of $910,666,116.56.  At the end of 

the Seventh Application  Period (June 30, 2012), the Receiver had collected total funds of 

$934,878,175.21.  At the end of the Eighth Application  Period, December 31, 2012, the Receiver 

had collected total funds of$941,230,551.22. At the end ofthe Ninth Application Period, 

June 30,2013, the Receiver had collected total funds of$946,183,089.01. At the end ofthe 
 

Tenth Application Period, December 31, 2013, the Receiver has collected total funds of 
 

$1,001,763,724.07.  At the end of the Eleventh Application Period, June 30,2014, the Receiver 

has collected total funds of$1,800,207,824.03.  At the end ofthe Twelfth Application Period, 

December 31,2014, the Receiver had collected total funds of$1,013,212,021.25.  At the end of 
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the Thirteenth Application Period, June 30, 2015, the Receiver had collected total funds of 
 

$1,019,902,218.84.  At the end of the Fourteenth Application Period, December 31, 2015, the 

Receiver had collected total funds of$1,020,411,608.52.  At the end of the Fifteenth Application 

Period, June 30, 2016, the Receiver had collected total funds of$1,023,395,999.43.  At the end 

of the Sixteenth Reporting Period, the Receiver had collected total funds of $1,023,549,815.49. 

At the end of the Seventeenth Reporting Period, the Receiver had collected total funds of 

$1,024,710,616.98.  At the end ofthe Eighteenth  Reporting Period, the Receiver had collected 

total funds of$1,025,530,199.66.  At the end ofthe Nineteenth Reporting Period, the Receiver 

had collected total funds of$1,026,577,921.07. At the end of the Twentieth  Reporting Period, 

the Receiver had collected total funds of $1,027,511 ,250.86.  Notably, as of December 31, 2018, 

the Receiver had disbursed to investors the sum of$978,343,168.17.8 

The following summarizes  the legal services Frandzel provided the Receiver during the 
 

Twentieth Application Period:9 
 

 
• Assisted the Receiver in negotiating for the sale of the Receiver's interest 

in the Liberty Hill project and in analyzing the liquidation issues for the 

Orion Constellation  Fund.  Frandzel also engaged in discussions with the 

SEC and CFTC regarding the form of consent judgment for the Corporate 

Defendants in this matter. 

II.  LEGAL DISCUSSION  OF THE FACTORS TO BE CONSIDERED  BY THE 
COURT IN AWARDING  FEES 

 
 
 

8 Both the Twentieth Application  and the Declaration of Brick Kane filed concurrently 
herewith provide a more in-depth discussion of the actions taken by the Receiver during the 
Twentieth  Application Period. 

9 Both the Twentieth Application  and the Declaration of Craig A. Welin filed 
concurrently herewith provide a more detailed discussion of the legal services Frandzel provided 
the Receiver during the Twentieth Application Period. 
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The CFTC Interim Order states: 
 

The Receiver and all personnel hired by the Receiver as herein authorized, 
including counsel to the Receiver, are entitled to reasonable compensation for the 
performance of duties pursuant to this Order ad for the cost of actual out-of- pocket 
expenses incurred by them, from the assets now held by, or in the possession or 
control of, or which may be received by the Defendants or Relief Defendants. 

 
While the SEC Interim Order states: 

 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants shall pay the reasonable 

costs, fees and expenses of the receiver incurred in connection with the 
performance of his duties described herein, including, but not limited to, the 
reasonable costs, fees and expenses of all persons who may be engaged or 
employed by the receiver to assist him in carrying out his duties and obligations. 

 
Applicable case law on equity receiverships sets forth the standards for approving 

compensation  paid to a Receiver and his counsel.  Under the case law, the District Court has 

discretion to determine compensation  to be awarded to a court-appointed equity receiver and his 

or her counsel and may consider "all of the factors involved in a particular receivership"  in 

determining the appropriate fee, Securities & Exchange Comm'n v. Byers, 590 F. Supp. 2d 637, 

644 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (citing Gaskill v. Gordon, 27 F.3d 248, 253 (7th Cir. 1994)).  Although 

some authority, including judicial opinions in other cases and legal treatises, may provide 

"convenient guidelines," a receivership is a "unique situation [that) renders direct reliance on 

precedent impossible."  Securities & Exchange Comm'n v. WL. Moody & Co., 374 F. Supp. 465, 

480 (S.D. Tex. 1974), affd  519 F.2d 1087 (5th Cir. 1975). 
 

In allowing counsel fees in Securities Act receiverships, a court "will consider ... the 

complexity of problems faced, the benefit to the Receivership Estate, the quality of work 

performed, and the time records presented."  Securities & Exchange Comm'n v. Fifth Ave. Coach 

Lines, Inc., 364 F. Supp. 1220, 1222 (S.D.N.Y 1973); see also Moody, 374 F. Supp. at 485 

(stating that a "basic consideration is the nature and complexity of the legal problems confronted 
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and the skill necessary to resolve them"); United States v Code Prods., 362, F. 2d 669, 673 (3rd 

Cir. 1966) (stating that a court should consider the time, labor, and skill required (but not 

necessarily expended); the fair value of such time, labor and skill; the degree of activity; the 

dispatch with which the work is conducted; and the result obtained).  A "significant factor is the 

amount of money involved" in the receivership.  Moody, at 486.  In essence, a receiver's legal 

fees "must be reasonable in light of the services rendered by counsel and the amount of property 

held in the receivership."  Gasser v. Infanti lnt'l,  Inc., 358 F. Supp. 2d 176, 182 (E.D.N.Y. 2005) 

While "[r]esults are always relevant," the quality of a result should be measured by more 

than just an increase in monetary value.  Securities & Exchange Comm'n v. Elliott, 953 F.2d 

1560, 1577 (11111 Cir. 1992), quoting Moody, 374 F. Supp. at 480.  ("Even though a receiver may 
 

not have increased, or prevented a decrease in, the value of the collateral, if a receiver reasonably 

and diligently discharges his duties, he is entitled to compensation.")   Obviously, overall results 

can be determined only at the conclusion of the case, but the continued progress made by the 

Receiver during the Eighteenth Application Period amply demonstrates the diligence and 

thoroughness  with which the Receiver and counsel approach their work and the substantial 

benefit, both financial and intangible, that flowed from that work. 

Moreover, "[t]ime spent cannot be ignored."  Moody, 374 F. Supp. at 483.  This is 

particularly true when the dimension and complexity of a receivership prevent counsel from 

taking on other full time assignments.  !d. at 483-486 (describing the efforts of the receiver 

counsel's in the difficult task of determining  ownership and disposability of a bank's assets and 

the high priority given to the matter by counsel). 

Under these standards, the Receiver and Frandzel believe that the amount of fees and 

reimbursement  of expenses sought in the Twentieth Application are plainly reasonable.  During 
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the Twentieth Application Period, the Receiver has continued to pursue the primary objectives of 

the Receivership  Estate, namely, distribution of funds to the rightful investors as quickly as 

possible.  In this regard, the Receiver, during the Twentieth Application Period, continued with 

its efforts to liquidate its interest in various remaining assets, including the Orion Fund.  The 

Receiver also turned its efforts to wrapping up the Receivership Estate, including the Receiver's 

liquidation of its interest in the Liberty Hill project.  Clearly, the Receiver's efforts during the 

Twentieth Application Period have resulted in tremendous  benefit to all investors. 

All of the work billed in the various categories was geared to an orderly administration of 

the estate in the most expeditious manner.  As can been seen from the Invoices attached to the 

declarations of Brick Kane and Craig A. Welin, a thoughtful approach was given to all tasks 

undertaken and was arduously supervised.  When possible, the duplication of tasks was avoided 

and when it was necessary for duplicative work to be done (e.g. reviewing court orders, meetings 

amongst attorneys), often times the work of only one professional has been charged. 

Considering  the complexity and quantity of the issues the Receiver had to address during this 

case, the fees of the Receiver and Frandzel are justified and reasonable. 

 
 
 

Intentional page break, pleading continues on page 21. 
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III. CONCLUSION 
 

Based on the foregoing, as well as the information in the Twentieth Fee Application, and 

the declarations of Brick Kane and Craig A. Welin, the Receiver and Frandzel respectfully 

request that the Court grant the Twentieth Fee Application. 

 
Dated:  December 26, 2019 

 
 
 

  Is/ Craig A. Welin   
Craig A. Welin, Esq. 
Admitted Pro Hac Vice in the United States District 
Court-Southern  District ofNew York 
FRANDZEL ROBINS BLOOM & CSATO, L.C. 
1000 Wilshire Boulevard, 19th Floor 
Los Angeles, California  90017-2427 
Telephone:  (323) 852-1000 
Facsimile:  (323) 651-2577 
E-mail:  cwelin@frandzel.com 
Co-Counsel for Receiver 
Robb Evans & Associates LLC 

mailto:cwelin@frandzel.com


  



  



  



  



 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit "A" is a spreadsheet prepared by the Receiver's  staff 

which breaks out the Receiver's Administrative Expenses by month for each month during the 

Nineteenth Application Period.  At the end of the Twentieth Reporting Period, the Receiver had 

collected total funds of$1,027,511,250.86, an increase of$933,329.79 from the end ofthe 

Nineteenth Reporting Period (June 30, 2018).  Notably, as ofDecember 31,2018, the Receiver 

had disbursed to investors the sum of$978,343,168.17. 

8.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "B" is a true and conect  copy of the July 2018 Invoice 

for professional services the Receiver and its staff rendered to the Receivership Estate for July 

2018.1   The fees incurred by the Receiver during this time period are $810.60 and the expenses 
 
totaled $213.29.  Page 1 of Exhibit "B" identifies each person from the Receiver's office who 

worked on the estate during July 2018, the total amount of hours each person worked on the 

estate during July 2018, their individual billing rates and the total amount of fees that were 

generated as a result of their efforts as well as an aggregate amount of fees the Receiver billed 

the estate for July 2018.  The remaining pages of Exhibit "B" contain the individual time records 

for each person from the Receiver's office who worked on the estate during July 2018.  Pursuant 

to Sections D 4 and 5 of the Billing Instructions for Receivers in Civil Actions Commenced by 

the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC Guidelines"), the individual time records 

are in chronological  order by Activity Category and describe the service that was performed and 

the total amount of time spent performing the particular task. 

 
 
 
 
 

1  Where necessary the descriptions of the work performed in Exhibits "B", "C", "D", 
"E", "F", and "G" have been redacted to preserve the attorney-client and/or attorney work 
product privileges or to otherwise protect the Receiver and the estate from inappropriate 
disclosures.   However, unredacted versions are being provided to the Court for an in camera 
review. 
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9.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "C'  is a true and correct copy ofthe August 2018 
 

Invoice for professional services the Receiver and its staff rendered to the Receivership Estate 

for August 2018.  The fees incurred by the Receiver during this time period are $1,801.20 and 

the expenses totaled $3,565.30.   Page 1 of Exhibit "C" identifies each person from the Receiver's 

office who worked on the estate during August 2018, the total amount of hours each person 

worked on the estate during August 2018, their individual billing rates and the total amount of 

fees that were generated as a result of their efforts as well as an aggregate amount of fees the 

Receiver billed the estate for August 2018.  The remaining pages of Exhibit "C" contain the 

individual time records for each person from the Receiver's office who worked on the estate 

during August 2018.  Pursuant to Sections D 4 and 5 of the SEC Guidelines, the individual time 

records are in chronological  order by Activity Category and describe the service that was 

performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular task. 

10.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "D" is a true and correct copy ofthe September 2018 
 

Invoice for professional services the Receiver and its staff rendered to the Receivership Estate 

for September 2018.  The fees incurred by the Receiver during this time period are $642.90 and 

the expenses totaled $469.38.   Page 1 of Exhibit "D" identifies each person from the Receiver's 

office who worked on the estate during September 2018, the total amount of hours each person 

worked on the estate during September 2018, their individual billing rates and the total amount 

of fees that were generated as a result of their efforts as well as an aggregate amount of fees the 

Receiver billed the estate for September 2018.  The remaining pages of Exhibit "D" contain the 

individual time records for each person from the Receiver's  office who worked on the estate 

during September 2018.  Pursuant to Sections D 4 and 5 of the SEC Guidelines, the individual 
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time records are in chronological  order by Activity Category and describe the service that was 

performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular task. 

11.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "E" is a true and correct copy of the October 2018 
 

Invoice for professional services the Receiver and its staff rendered to the Receivership Estate 

for October 2018.  The fees incurred by the Receiver during this time period are $1,592.40 and 

expenses totaled $12,774.99 (which includes tax return preparation charges of$12,493.00). 

Page 1 of Exhibit "E" identifies each person from the Receiver's  office who worked on the estate 

during October 2018, the total amount of hours each person worked on the estate during October 

2018, their individual billing rates and the total amount of fees that were generated as a result of 

their efforts as well as an aggregate amount of fees the Receiver billed the estate for October 

2018.  The remaining pages of Exhibit "E" contain the individual time records for each person 

from the Receiver's  office who worked on the estate during October 2018.  Pursuant to Sections D 

4 and 5 of the SEC Guidelines, the individual time records are in chronological order by Activity 

Category and describe the service that was performed and the total amount of time spent 

performing the particular task. 

12.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "F" is a true and correct copy of the November 2018 
 

Invoice for professional services the Receiver and its staff rendered to the Receivership Estate 
 

for November 2018.  The fees incurred by the Receiver during the time period are $2,736.60 and 

expenses totaled $295.11.  Page 1 of Exhibit "F" identifies each person from the Receiver's 

office who worked on the estate during November 2018, the total amount of hours each person 

worked on the estate during November 2018, their individual billing rates and the total amount of 

fees that were generated as a result of their efforts as well as an aggregate amount of fees the 

Receiver billed the estate in November 2018.  The remaining pages of Exhibit "F" contain the 
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individual time records for each person from the Receiver's office who worked on the estate 

during November 2018.  Pursuant to Sections D 4 and 5 of the SEC Guidelines, the individual 

time records are in chronological  order by Activity Category and describe the service that was 

performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular task. 

13.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "G" is a true and correct copy of the December 2018 
 

Invoice for professional services the Receiver and its staff rendered to the Receivership Estate for 

December 2018.  The fees incurred by the Receiver during the time period are $444.00 and 

expenses totaled $217.00.  Page 1 of Exhibit "G" identifies each person from the Receiver's office 

who worked on the estate during December 2018, the total amount of hours each person worked 

on the estate during December 2018, their individual billing rates and the total amount of fees that 

were generated as a result of their efforts as well as an aggregate amount of fees the Receiver 

billed the estate in December 2018.  The remaining pages of Exhibit "G" contain the individual 

time records for each person from the Receiver's office who worked on the estate during 

December 2018.  Pursuant to Sections D 4 and 5 ofthe SEC Guidelines, the individual time 

records are in chronological  order by Activity Category and describe the service that was 

performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular task. 

14.  The Receiver and its staff observed the policies of the SEC Guidelines in 

connection with all expenses  incurred during the Twentieth Application Period and for which it 

is now seeking reimbursement.   In addition, the invoices attached as Exhibits "B"- "G" hereto, 

reflect a discount of 10% off of the Receiver's normal hourly billing rates. 

15.  In addition to the fees and expenses for the Receiver and the Frandzel firm, the 

Receiver has also incurred de minimis legal fees and expenses from the firm of Barnes & 

Thornburg LLP in the sum of $198.00 for various tasks involved in acting as counsel in 



  



 

18.  I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America 

that the foregoing is true and correct. 

 
 
 

Executed on December ,C,, 2019 
Sun Valley, California 

 
 
 
 

BRICK KANE, Declarant 
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I, Craig A. Welin, declare pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, as follows: 
 

1.         I am an attorney at law duly licensed and authorized to practice law in the State of 

California and have been admitted by Order of this Court to appear in this matter pro hac vice.  I 

am a member of the law firm ofFrandzel Robins Bloom & Csato, L.C. ("Frandzel"), attorneys 

for the Receiver, Robb Evans & Associates LLC ("Receiver").   I am the attorney at Frandzel 

responsible for overseeing the services provided to the Receiver in connection with the 

Receivership Estate in the above-captioned  matters involving the Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission  (the "CFTC")  and the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC")  since the 

Receiver was appointed on February 25, 2009.  Although other attorneys, paralegals, and law 

clerks at Frandzel work on this matter for the Receiver, it is always under my direction and 

control or under my supervision and I have been and continue to be ultimately responsible for 

their work on this matter. 

2.  I am submitting this declaration in support of the Twentieth Joint Application of 

the Receiver, Frandzel Robins Bloom & Csato, L.C. ("Frandzel") and Barnes & Thornburg LLP 

("Barnes")  for Allowance for Compensation and Reimbursement  of Expenses incurred during 

the Period of July 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018 ("Twentieth  Application").  If called upon 

to testify as to the matters stated herein, I could and would competently testify thereto. 

3.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "A" is a true and correct copy ofthe invoice Frandzel 

submitted to the Receiver for legal services it rendered to the Receiver during July 2018, as well 

as its out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection with these legal services during the same time 

period.  The fees incurred by Frandzel during this time period are $4,842.00 and the costs are 
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$331.70.1    In accordance with  Sections D 4 and 5 ofthe Billing Instructions for Receivers in 

Civil Actions Commenced by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC 

Guidelines"), Exhibit "A" contains the individual time records for each attorney and paralegal at 

Frandzel who worked on this matter.  These time records, which are organized in chronological 

order by Activity Category, as set forth by the SEC Guidelines, describe the service that each 

listed attorney or paralegal performed and the total amount of time spent performing the 

particular task. 2   Finally, Exhibit "A" contains an itemization  of the costs incmTed on this matter 

during this time period and for which Frandzel is seeking reimbursement. 

4.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "B" is a true and correct copy ofthe invoice Frandzel 

submitted to the Receiver for legal services it rendered to the Receiver during August 2018, as 

well as its out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection with these legal services during the same 

time period.  The fees incurred by Frandzel during this time period are $14,559.50 and the costs 

are $133.89.   In accordance with  Sections D 4 and 5 ofthe SEC Guidelines, Exhibit "B" 

contains the individual time records for each attorney and paralegal at Frandzel who worked on 

this matter.  These time records, which are organized in chronological  order by Activity 

Category, as set forth by the SEC Guidelines, describe the service that each listed attorney or 

paralegal performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular task.  Finally, 

Exhibit "B" contains an itemization of the costs incurred on this matter during this time period 

and for which Frandzel is seeking reimbursement. 

1  Included within the costs item for July and November are attorneys'  fees and costs for 
Ballard Spahr LLP, which has provided limited assistance to the Receiver as local counsel in 
connection with the sale ofthe Liberty Hill Property. 

2 Where necessary the descriptions of the work performed in Exhibits "A", "B", "C", 
"D", "E", and "F" have been redacted to preserve the attorney-client  and/or attorney work 
product privileges or to otherwise protect the Receiver and the estate from inappropriate 
disclosures.   However, unredacted versions of Frandzel's  invoices are also being provided to the 
Court for an in camera review. 
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5.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "C" is a true and correct copy of the invoice Frandzel 

submitted to the Receiver for legal services it rendered to the Receiver during September 2018, 

as well as its out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection  with these legal services during the same 

time period.  The fees incurred by Frandzel during this time period are $3,856.00 and the costs are 

$1,719.30.   In accordance with Sections D 4 and 5 ofthe SEC Guidelines, Exhibit "C" contains 

the individual time records for each attorney and paralegal at Frandzel who worked on this matter.  

These time records, which are organized in chronological order by Activity 

Category, as set forth by the SEC Guidelines, describe the service that each listed attorney, 

paralegal, or law clerk performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular 

task.  Finally, Exhibit "C" contains an itemization of the costs incurred on this matter during this 

time period and for which Frandzel is seeking reimbursement. 

6.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "D" is a true and correct copy of the invoice Frandzel 

submitted to the Receiver for legal services it rendered to the Receiver during October 2018, as 

well as its out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection  with these legal services during the same 

time period.  The fees incurred by Frandzel during this time period are $1,301.50 and the costs 

are $342.86.   In accordance  with Sections D 4 and 5 of the SEC Guidelines, Exhibit "D" contains 

the individual time records for each attorney, paralegal, or law clerk at Frandzel who worked on 

this matter.  These time records, which are organized in chronological  order by Activity 

Category, as set forth by the SEC Guidelines, describe the service that each attorney, paralegal, 

or law clerk performed and the total amount of time spent performing the particular task. 

Finally, Exhibit "D" contains an itemization of the costs incurred on this matter during this time 

period and for which Frandzel is seeking reimbursement. 
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7.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "E" is a true and correct copy of the invoice Frandzel 

submitted to the Receiver for legal services it rendered to the Receiver during November 2018, 

as well as its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with these legal services during the 

same time period.  The fees incurred by Frandzel during this time period are $12,244.00 and the 

costs are $6,781.06.   In accordance  with Sections D 4 and 5 of the SEC Guidelines, Exhibit "E" 

contains the individual time records for each attorney, paralegal, or law clerk at Frandzel who 

worked on this matter.  These time records, which are organized in chronological  order by 

activity category, as set forth by the SEC Guidelines, describe the service that each attorney, 

paralegal or law clerk performed and the total amount of time spent performing particular task. 

Finally, Exhibit "E" contains an itemization of the costs incurred on this matter during this time 

period and for which Frandzel is seeking reimbursement. 

8.  Attached hereto as Exhibit "F" is a true and correct copy of the invoice Frandzel 

submitted to the Receiver for legal services it rendered to the Receiver during December 2018, as 

well as its out-of-pocket  expenses incurred in connection with these legal services during the same 

time period.  The fees incurred by Frandzel during this time period are $11,480.00 and the costs 

are $60.00.  On the costs section of this invoice, there is a reference to travel expenses totaling 

$1,505.38.   These costs should not have been included on the invoice and as reflected in Exhibit A 

to the Kane Declaration, they have not been charged to the receivership estate.  In accordance  with 

Sections D 4 and 5 ofthe SEC Guidelines, Exhibit "F" contains the individual time records for 

each attorney, paralegal, or law clerk at Frandzel who worked on this matter. These time records, 

which are organized  in chronological order by activity category, as set forth by the SEC 

Guidelines, describe the service that each attorney, paralegal or law clerk performed and the total 

amount of time spent performing the particular task.  Finally, Exhibit "'F" contains 



  



  


